#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order dismissing the complaint, which is appealable as a final judgment under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The appeal was timely because notice of entry of the order was served on May 11, 2016 (5 A.App. 1096), and the notice of appeal was filed within 30 days thereafter, on June 7, 2016 (5 A.App. 1114).

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal is presumptively retained by the supreme court under NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14), because the case involves questions of first impression and issues of statewide public importance.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether NRS 38.310 establishes subject matter jurisdictional limitations.
- 2. Whether NRS 38.310 may be raised after nearly four years of litigation.
- 3. Whether waiver or estoppel may apply to NRS 38.310.

- 4. Whether NRS 38.310 is applicable in the present case.
- 5. Whether the district court erred in applying NRS 38.310 to dismiss the case, after the court had already entered case-terminating sanctions due to defendants' repeated abuses of the judicial process.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed their complaint on August 27, 2012. 1 A.App. 1. The district court ordered case-terminating sanctions against defendants, based upon pervasive discovery abuses and violations of court orders. 4 A.App. 877. The district court then entered a judgment in favor of plaintiffs, against defendants, in the total amount of approximately \$8 million. 7 A.App. 1423-24. A few days before a scheduled hearing on punitive damages, defendants filed a motion to dismiss, and plaintiffs filed an opposition. 1 A.App. 120; 2 A.App. 305. The district court granted the motion and dismissed the case on May 9, 2016. 5 A.App. 1082. This appeal followed.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### 1. Background of condominium units.

In 2006, the prior owner of GSR converted 670 of its approximately 2,000 hotel rooms into condominium units. 2 A.App. 308. The condominium units are part of a Unit Owners' Association (UOA), and they are governed by CC&Rs. 2 A. App. 308, 344. Approximately 331 units were sold to the public at prices ranging

from \$200,000 to \$500,000. 3 A.App. 503. Ownership of the remaining units stayed with GSR's owner. 3 A.App. 503-07.

Unit owners were required to enter into maintenance agreements. 2 A.App. 309, 351; 3 A.App. 457, 478. The maintenance agreements allowed GSR's owner to provide services such as reception desk staffing, housekeeping, repairs and maintenance. 3 A.App. 457-58. Almost all owners also signed rental agreements, which allowed GSR to rent the privately-owned condominium units to the public, with rental revenue being paid to the unit owners after certain deductions. 3 A.App. 478-93.

Plaintiffs purchased condominium units as investments, with the understanding that plaintiffs could not use their units as dwellings for 28 days or more in any 12-month period. 2 A.App. 309; 3 A.App. 475.

#### 2. MEI-GSR takes over the condominium program.

In March 2011, respondent MEI-GSR purchased the GSR. 2 A.App. 309; 3 A.App. 496. There is no evidence of substantive problems with the rental program prior to MEI-GSR's purchase. But shortly after MEI-GSR purchased the resort, MEI-GSR terminated the original rental agreement and replaced it with a new agreement. 3 A.App. 496. Under the original rental agreement, GSR could rent privately owned condominium units to the public before the hotel achieved full occupancy; but under the new agreement, hotel rooms and condominium units

owned by GSR would be rented to the public before the rental of the privately-owned units. *Id.* MEI-GSR also increased daily fees and contributions for capital improvements. *Id.* 

MEI-GSR presented these changes to the private unit owners on a take-it-or-leave-it basis. 2 A.App. 310; 3 A.App. 496, 565. The new agreements generally resulted in the private unit owners actually owing money each month to MEI-GSR, instead of receiving revenue. 2 A.App. 310; 3 A.App. 496.

Additionally, under the prior system, condominium units were rented to the public on a rotation system. Under the new system, however, plaintiffs' units would only be rented to the public during peak occupancy. 2 A.App. 310. Yet MEI-GSR charged the individual owners full fees for units that were seldom used. *Id.* Plaintiffs eventually found out that MEI-GSR and other defendants were trying to create an economic situation that would force individual unit owners to sell their units to defendants, which would allow defendants to acquire 80 percent of the total units, so defendants could terminate the UOA and thereby reacquire <u>all</u> of the individually owned units. 2 A.App. 310; 3 A.App. 582-83, 585, 587-93, 595-98.

# 3. Defendants defraud plaintiffs, steal money and usurp possession of plaintiffs' units.

MEI-GSR and other defendants defrauded plaintiffs in the new rental program by not reporting room usage, improperly comping plaintiffs' units, sending false invoices, and not paying plaintiffs money that was owed under the program. 3 A.App. 505-28. Defendants also defrauded those plaintiffs who were not part of the new rental program, by renting their units without their permission, and by simply keeping the income from those rentals as if defendants themselves owned the units. 3 A.App. 508-10.

After taking over the condominium rental operations, MEI-GSR repeatedly took possession of plaintiffs' units, even after being instructed that defendants could not use the rooms. *E.g.* 2 A.App. 311-13; 3 A.App. 600-02. These practices were confirmed by the testimony of MEI-GSR's vice president, who cited "business demand" as the reason why defendants rented out units that were not part of the rental program. 2 A.App. 313; 3 A.App. 589:16-18.

The rental agreement allowed defendants to provide complimentary use ("comps") of the privately owned units up to five nights per year, for GSR guests such as gamblers and travel agents. 2 A.App. 273(¶11). Defendants improperly took possession of plaintiffs' condominium units by comping their rooms to gaming customers and not reporting the use of the rooms to plaintiffs. 2 A.App. 313. This was documented by an internal email. 3 A.App. 605. In another email, an MEI-GSR employee observed that one condominium owner's unit was comped eight days in one month alone, even though defendants "are only allowed 5 comps per condoper year." 3 A.App. 607.

#### 4. MEI-GSR ran a third-party rental company out of business.

Some plaintiffs attempted to use the services of a third-party rental company, when MEI-GSR changed the rental program. 2 A.App. 314; 3 A.App. 609-13. MEI-GSR prevented the company from helping these plaintiffs. 3 A.App. 609-20. An internal email stated that MEI-GSR employees "stole" reservations from the third-party company. 3 A.App. 622-23.

#### 5. Defendants wrongfully acquired title to condominium units.

Within less than two years of acquiring the GSR, defendants reduced revenue to plaintiffs by eliminating the equal rotation system, charging inappropriate fees, and driving the third-party rental agent out of business. As a result of these measures, in addition to sending false monthly statements, defendants purchased and thereby took possession and title to 98 private condominium units, at an average price of only about \$12,000. 2 A.App. 315; 3 A.App. 625. Defendants also admitted telling lies to condominium unit owners, to induce the owners to sell the units back to MEI-GSR. 2 A.App. 315-16; 3 A.App. 628-30. Plaintiffs contended that the fraud committed by defendants resulted in multiple transfers of plaintiff-owned units to defendants, and in this action plaintiffs sought return of those units, thereby placing title to the units in question. 2 A.App. 316.

6. MEI-GSR abandoned the UOA by failing to collect all reserves, and by stealing funds from plaintiff-owned units as reserves.

As noted above, plaintiffs owned many of the condominium units, but defendant themselves also owned many units. CC&Rs and other documents required all unit owners to make capital reserve contributions, with the money to be maintained in a separate account by the UOA. 2 A.App. 317-18. Defendants billed individual unit owners for reserve contributions in excess of what should have been charged. 2 A.App. 317; 3 A.App. 502-03, 520-34. In addition, defendants failed to contribute to the reserve accounts for defendant-owned units, and defendants intentionally failed to place plaintiffs' reserve money into separate reserve accounts. Instead, defendants placed the funds into MEI-GSR's general account, and the money was eventually traced to the casino cage to fund gaming operations. 2 A.App. 317-18; 4 A.App. 735; 6 A.App. 1198, 1220, 1274.

7. Defendants filed lawsuits against plaintiffs first, then stipulated that all claims between the parties would be resolved in this action.

After MEI-GSR defrauded plaintiffs and stole money from them, MEI-GSR actually sued some of the individual unit owners, in April 2012, in small claims actions filed in the justice court of Washoe County; MEI-GSR sought money

allegedly owed by the unit owners. *E.g.*, 4 A.App. 743-44. MEI-GSR's lawsuits expressly relied upon the CC&Rs and other governing documents. 4 A.App. 744. In fact, MEI-GSR's lawsuits had attached exhibits consisting of portions of the CC&Rs. 4 A.App. 747. All of MEI-GSR's lawsuits against plaintiffs were filed before plaintiffs filed this action in district court. 4 A.App. 743 (April 26, 2012), 761 (June 21, 2012), 777 (June 21, 2012), 789 (July 23, 2012). MEI-GSR's lawsuits did not allege anything about statutory or contractual requirements for ADR. E.g., 4 A.App. 743-44.

Plaintiffs filed their district court lawsuit in August 2012, alleging numerous causes of action. 1 A.App. 1. In September of 2012, after plaintiffs filed this action in district court, MEI-GSR and plaintiffs entered into a stipulation to dismiss MEI-GSR's lawsuits and to proceed with the district court case. 4 A.App. 791-92. The stipulation recited that MEI-GSR's justice court lawsuits and plaintiffs' district court lawsuit "concern common issues of fact and law." 4 A.App. 791. The parties stipulated that MEI-GSR's lawsuits against the unit owners would be dismissed, without prejudice, and that "all claims between the parties can be resolved in the District Court action." *Id.* The justice court judge approved the stipulation. 4 A.App. 793. The stipulation did not mention a word about ADR.

Defendants filed answers to plaintiffs' complaint and an amended complaint.

1 A.App. 48, 97. The answers asserted numerous affirmative defenses. 1 A.App.

59-60, 108-09. Defendants <u>never</u> alleged that plaintiffs failed to comply with any statutory or contractual requirements for ADR. *Id*.

Defendants also filed a counterclaim against plaintiffs. 1 A.App. 109. Defendants alleged that plaintiffs breached CC&Rs and other governing documents. 1 A.App. 110. Defendants requested damages for breach of the documents, as well as a judicial declaration regarding validity of the documents, regarding the rights of the parties under the governing documents, and determining the parties' "rights, entitlement, obligations and duties" under the documents. 1 A.App. 110-11. Defendants also requested an injunction against plaintiffs, to require plaintiffs to comply with obligations in the governing documents. 1 A.App. 111. Defendants' counterclaim contained no mention of applicability or compliance with statutory or contractual ADR requirements. 1 A.App. 109-11.

8. After stipulating to the district court's jurisdiction to resolve all claims between the parties, defendants engaged in persistent litigation misconduct.

Shortly after defendants stipulated to the district court's jurisdiction to resolve all claims between the parties, defendants embarked on a systematic effort to obstruct discovery and abuse the litigation process. The appendix contains a 23-page timeline identifying dozens of defendants' abuses. 4 A.App. 848-70. Among other things, defendants refused to respond to discovery requests, failed to obey rules

of procedure, failed to obey court orders, and engaged in extreme dilatory conduct. *Id.*; see also 2 A.App. 319-21. Frustrated by defendants' shenanigans, plaintiffs filed a motion for case-concluding sanctions in September 2013, and the district court held a three-day hearing in October 2013. 4 A.App. 878. Although the district court declined to impose case-concluding sanctions on defendants, the court struck defendants' counterclaims and ordered defendants to pay all attorneys' fees and costs associated with the hearing. *Id.* 

Despite the sanctions imposed in October 2013, defendants' misconduct continued. When defendants' misconduct became intolerable again, plaintiffs filed another motion for case-terminating sanctions in January 2014. 7 A.App. 1368. The district court held hearings in August 2014. 4 A.App. 878.

On October 3, 2014, the district court entered a detailed 12-page order granting plaintiffs' motion and striking defendants' answer. 4 A.App. 877-88. Among other things, the district court found:

- 1. Defendants violated three discovery commissioner rulings and three confirming orders. 4 A.App. 880:21-22.
- 2. Defendants violated four district court orders. 4 A.App. 880:23-24.
- 3. Defendants initially disclosed between 200 and 300 emails, and represented to the court in October 2013 that the number of emails not disclosed "was going to be inconsequential." After plaintiffs pressed for additional searches,

- defendants identified 224,226 emails. The discrepancy was <u>not</u> a good faith error, and was most likely "a deliberate failure to comply with discovery rules." 4 A.App. 881-82.
- 4. "The Defendants have consistently violated Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, orders compelling discovery, and the Court's directives. The Defendants have not proffered any legitimate or lawful explanation for their conduct." 4 A.App. 883:1-3. The district court reversed its October 2013 decision and found that defendants' "discovery failures are in fact willful." 4 A.App. 883:8-9.
- 5. Defendants "have abused and manipulated the discovery rules." 4 A.App. 884:21.
- 6. Although defendants received four discovery sanctions in October 2013 for discovery failures, these sanctions "have not been sufficient to modify the Defendants' behavior." 4 A.App. 885:7-8.
- 7. "The discovery abuse in this case is pervasive and colors the entirety of the case. The previous discovery sanctions have been unsuccessful in deterring the Defendants' behavior. Due to the severity and pattern of the Defendants' conduct there are no lesser sanctions that are suitable." 4 A.App. 886:14-18.

Based upon these findings, the district court granted plaintiffs' motion for case-terminating sanctions, struck defendants' answer, and scheduled the matter for a prove-up hearing on damages. 4 A.App. 888.

#### 9. Proceedings after the case-terminating sanctions.

As a result of the district court's order, a hearing on damages was held during three days in March, 2015. 7 A.App. 1405:16-17. The court considered expert testimony and other evidence, ultimately issuing a 23-page "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment" on October 9, 2015. 7 A.App. 1403. During the hearing leading up to this judgment, counsel for defendants specifically and expressly acknowledged that "[t]he Court retains jurisdiction" in this action. 4 A.App. 892:13.

Among other things, the district court's order/judgment determined that defendants used and controlled the UOA to advance defendants' own economic objectives, to the detriment of plaintiffs (7 A.App. 1414:8-10); defendants manipulated rentals of plaintiffs' units, sometimes "giving away the use of units owned by the Individual Unit Owners" (7 A.App. 1416:26-27); and defendants rented individual units to third parties without providing owners with any notice or compensation for the use of the owners' unit (7 A.App. 1417:3-4). The district court also found that defendants' conduct devalued the units owned by plaintiffs, and defendants engaged in such conduct with the intent to purchase the devalued units

at nominal, distressed prices. 7 A.App. 1417:7-11. Also, defendants breached their agreements with plaintiffs and failed to act in good faith. 7 A.App. 1417:18-22.

The district court's conclusions of law determined, among other things, that defendants violated numerous statutes; defendants committed numerous acts of dominion and control over plaintiffs' property; defendants' actions constituted conversion of plaintiffs' property; some of the governing documents are unconscionable; and defendants took money paid by plaintiffs and placed the money in its general operating account. 7 A.App. 1420-21.

The district court then awarded eight categories of dollar-specific compensatory damages, including, among other things: \$4,152,669.13 for rental of units of owners who had no rental agreements; \$1,399,630.44 for discounting owners' rooms without credits; and \$1,706,798.04 for improperly calculating and assessing hotel fees. 7 A.App. 1423-24. The compensatory damages totaled approximately \$8 million. *Id.* A receiver previously appointed was ordered to remain in place. 7 A.App. 1424. Finally, the court ordered another hearing to determine whether punitive damages are appropriate, and if so, the amount of punitive damages. 7 A.App. 1425.

#### 10. The motion to dismiss.

As noted above, this litigation commenced with the justice court lawsuits MEI-GSR filed against the condominium unit owners, seeking enforcement of the

CC&Rs and other governing documents relating to the units. MEI-GSR's own lawsuits were silent on any statutory or contractual ADR requirements. While MEI-GSR's lawsuits were still pending, plaintiffs filed the present action in district court. Thereafter, the parties stipulated to dismiss MEI-GSR's cases, and to litigate all claims between the parties in the district court action. The stipulation did not mention a word about ADR. Defendants then filed their answer, which contained numerous affirmative defenses and a counterclaim that sought interpretation, application and enforcement of CC&Rs and other governing documents. The affirmative defenses and counterclaim were silent about ADR.

The parties then engaged in years of hard-fought litigation. During all of this time, defendants never once whispered a word suggesting that the district court lacked jurisdiction over the case, or that plaintiffs needed to comply with procedural ADR requirements before filing the district court action. On March 23, 2015, at the prove-up hearing, during a discussion about the receiver, counsel for defendants specifically and expressly acknowledged that "[t]he Court retains jurisdiction" in this action. 4 A.App. 892:13 (emphasis added).

On December 1, 2015—barely a week before the scheduled hearing on punitive damages, and after years of litigation—defendants filed a motion to dismiss.

1 A.App. 120. The motion was filed after the district court already granted case-terminating sanctions against defendants, after the district court already awarded

approximately \$8 million in compensatory damages, and after the district court already entered a judgment on all claims except punitive damages. The motion was obviously a desperate, last-minute attempt by defendants to avoid the consequences of their fraud and theft, to avoid the \$8 million judgment for compensatory damages already entered, and to avoid the potential for millions more in punitive damages.

The day after defendants filed their motion to dismiss, the district court held an in-chambers conference regarding the motion. The clerk's minutes reflect that the district court expressed frustration and disdain regarding the last-minute motion. The court "indicated that he should not be shocked that the Motion to Dismiss was just filed, given all the other abuses that have occurred in this case, and this is just one more example to be added to the litany of things that demonstrate the lack of good faith in which the Defendants have handled this case." 7 A.App. 1427.

The motion to dismiss was based largely upon NRS 38.310, which provides for ADR procedures (mediation and/or arbitration) in cases involving residential property within common-interest communities. 1 A.App. 122. Defendants' counsel contended that he had not raised the statute earlier in the lawsuit because he was unaware of it, and he only became aware of it a few days before the scheduled hearing on punitive damages. 2 A.App. 299:6-9. He provided no explanation regarding how his professed ignorance of the statute squared with the fact that statutory ADR requirements were expressly cited in governing documents which

were drafted by defendants, and which defendants' counterclaim was seeking to enforce. 1 A.App. 211 (Dispute Resolution Addendum Agreement, sub¶(5), citing "Nevada Revised Statutes, Sections 38.300 to 38.369 inclusive").

Plaintiffs opposed the motion, arguing, among other things, that the statute is not applicable to this case, the statute does not impose subject matter jurisdictional limitations, and doctrines such as waiver precluded defendants from asserting the statute at the eleventh hour. 2 A.App. 305.

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