### Case No. 70498

## In the Supreme Court of Nevada

ALBERT THOMAS, individually; JANE DUNLAP, individually; JOHN DUNLAP, individually, *et al.*,

Appellants,

vs.

MEI-GSR HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; GRAND SIERRA RESORT UNIT OWNERS' ASSOCIATION, a Nevada nonprofit corporation; GAGE VILLAGE COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a California limited liability company; AM-GSR HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondents,

Electronically Filed Feb 06 2017 09:01 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County The Honorable Elliot A. Sattler, District Judge District Court Case No. CV12-02222

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

# D. Plaintiffs' Argument About "Use and Possession" Is Belied By the Statute's Plain Language and Creates an Exception that Would Swallow the Rule

Plaintiffs argue that NRS 38.310 does not apply because their claims relate to their "right to possess and use their properties." (AOB at 27-31). Plaintiffs rely on a distortion of this Court's case law to reach their erroneous conclusion.

NRS 38.310 applies to "civil actions." "Civil action," in turn, is defined as including "an action for money damages or equitable relief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In any case, as Defendants explained below, the legislative history supports application of the statute in this case. (*See* 5 App. 959-60.)

The term does not include . . . an action relating to the title to residential property." (NRS 38.300.) This Court made it abundantly clear in *McKnight Family, L.L.P. v. Adept Mgmt.*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 310 P.3d 555, 558-60 (2013), that the only kind of claim excluded from NRS 38.310 is one for quiet title and that injunctive relief, negligence, breach of contract, statutory, slander of title, and wrongful foreclosure claims were all properly dismissed under NRS 38.310.

As the district court pointed out, many cases have applied NRS 38.310 since *McKnight* but none have "expanded this exemption beyond causes of action for quiet title." (5 App. 1088, n.1); *see, e.g., Carrington Mortg. Servs., LLC v. Saticoy Bay, LLC*, No. 215CV01852APGPAL, 2016 WL 4051268, at \*2 (D. Nev. July 25, 2016) (dismissing bad faith, wrongful foreclosure, unjust enrichment, and tortious interference claims based on NRS 38.310); *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. TBR I, LLC*, No. 315CV00401LRHWGC, 2016 WL 3965195, at \*7 (D. Nev. July 22, 2016) (holding that while quite title claim was exempt, cause of action for equitable indemnity was barred as "the Nevada Supreme Court has defined this exception [for an action relating to title] narrowly").

McKnight noted that a quiet title claim "directly relates to an individual's right to possess and use his or her property" and that such claims are exempt from NRS 38.310. McKnight, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 310 P.3d at 559. Seizing on this language, Plaintiffs argue that all their claims relate to their "right to possess and use their properties." (AOB at 28.) But this is not accurate. Plaintiffs claim that Defendants' actions resulted in Plaintiffs receiving less rent and lowering the value of their condo units, but no one ever disputed Plaintiffs' title to the units and their accompanying right to use and possess them within the limitations they themselves agreed to under the governing documents.

That Plaintiffs' claims are not "an action relating to the title to residential property" is further evidenced by their prayer for relief.

They never ask for a declaration that they hold proper title or that title should be transferred back to them; rather, they sought a receivership, damages, and an accounting, making their action one "for money damages or equitable relief." NRS 38.300(3). (1 App. 95.)

As the district court correctly found, none of Plaintiffs' claims "would impact the owners' title to the units," and taking Plaintiffs' argument at face value, "almost any alleged violations of the CC&Rs could

arguably be framed as interference with the use and possession of one's property." (5 App. 1087.) CC&Rs, like the CC&Rs and other governing documents here, often place certain restrictions on the use of one's property—hence the name covenants, conditions, and *restrictions*—but NRS 38.310 would be meaningless if claims relating to restrictions on the use of one's property could not qualify as a "civil action." The exception would swallow the rule. This is clearly not what the statute says or means.

Whether Defendants' actions impacted the use and possesion<sup>11</sup> of their units is immaterial. See, e.g., Abet Justice LLC v. First Am. Tr. Servicing Sols., LLC, No. 214CV908JCMGWF, 2016 WL 1170989, at \*3 (D. Nev. Mar. 23, 2016) (dismissing negligence, negligence per se, breach of contract, and wrongful foreclosure claims under NRS 38.310, as "these claims '[exist] separate from the title to land" (quoting McKnight, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 310 P.3d at 559)). Plaintiffs' argu-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Plaintiffs' reliance on the district court's "findings" in its order after imposing case-terminating sanctions is misplaced. (AOB at 28-31.) Plaintiffs' claims at the time they commenced their action are determinative, not what the court may have later found. Moreover, while Plaintiffs purport to rely on the court's "findings," these were issued in the context of the court's order imposing a default against Defendants. The "findings" are mere repetitions of Plaintiffs' allegations. (*Compare*, *e.g.*, 7 App. 1413-17, ¶¶108-147, *with* 1 App. 81-85, ¶¶106-145.)

ment that their claims are exempt from NRS 38.310 is based on an erroneous and overbroad reading of *McKnight*, is at odds with the statute, and should be rejected.

# E. The Condo Units at Grand Sierra Resort Qualify as Residential Property within the Meaning of NRS 38.300

Plaintiffs further argue that NRS 38.310 is inapplicable based on their apparent belief that a definition from the Reno Municipal Code trumps Nevada's statutes. (AOB at 34-35.) Reno has no power to circumvent laws passed by the state legislature, and in actuality the state and municipality provisions are not in conflict.

Plaintiffs rely on a line from Reno Muncipal Code defining a hotel condominium as "a commercial condominium development." Reno Muncipal Code ("RMC") 18.24.203.2690. On this basis, they argue that GSR cannot qualify as "residential property" within the meaning of NRS 38.310. But the RMC explains that the provisions in Title 18 apply to the development of land "within the corporate limits of the City of Reno, except as expressly or specifically provided otherwise in this title or pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute." RMC 18.02.104 (emphasis added).

NRS 38.300 has its own definition of residential property for purposes of NRS 38.310, and that definition expressly includes "real estate" within a planned community subject to the provisions of chapter 116 of NRS." See NRS 38.300(6) ("Residential property' includes, but is not limited to, real estate within a planned community subject to the provisions of chapter 116 of NRS or real estate within a condominium hotel subject to the provisions of chapter 116B of NRS."). The GSR condo units at issue are "real estate within a planned community subject to the provisions of chapter 116 of NRS" and thus are residential property. See NRS 38.300(6); (2 App. 348 (CC&Rs submitting the property "to the provisions of the Uniform Common-Interest Ownership Act of the State of Nevada, as amended from time to time (hereinafter called the 'Act')").).12 NRS 38.310 squarely applies to all of Plaintiffs' claims.

# II. The District Court Correctly Held that Dismissal Was Mandatory under the Plain Language of the Statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Plaintiffs argue that the "GSR condominimums are not subject to the provisions of NRS 116B . . . because the condominiums were created prior to January 1, 2008." (AOB at 35 n.4 (citing NRS 116B.290(3)(c).) But whether they are subject to NRS 116B is immaterial, as they are clearly subject to NRS 116 and thus qualify as residential property.

Given that all of Plaintiffs' claims fall within the scope of NRS 38.310 and that Plaintiffs did not mediate their claims before bringing suit, Plaintiffs' claims were properly dismissed.

NRS 38.310 is not ambiguous concerning the remedy for failure to mediate. The statute's language is not suggestive or subject to the discretion of courts. Rather, it speaks in clear and mandatory terms: "A court *shall dismiss* any civil action which is commenced in violation of the [mandatory mediation and arbitration] provisions of subsection 1." NRS 38.310(2) (emphasis added). The district court correctly determined that "the language of NRS 38.310 mandates the Court to dismiss this action." (5 App. 1093.)<sup>13</sup>

## A. NRS 38.310 Unambiguously Mandates the Dismissal of Claims That Have Not Been Mediated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Plaintiffs argue that even if dismissal of their claims is affirmed, "the dismissal should not have the effect of unwinding the district court's orders and judgments entered prior to the dismissal." (AOB at 40 n.6.) But any orders and judgments making factual findings or touching on the merits of the case must be vacated. *Cf. Willy v. Coastal Corp.*, 503 U.S. 131, 138 (1992) (while Rule 11 sanctions could survive later determination that court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, this was because imposition of Rule 11 sanctions "does not signify a district court's assessment of the legal merits of the complaint" (quoting *Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp.*, 496 U.S. 384, 396 (1990))). It would make no sense, and blatantly circumvent the statue, to dismiss Plaintiffs' claims, yet have orders making findings about those non-existent claims remain in effect.

As numerous courts have recognized, the statutory command of NRS 38.310 is not vague or ambiguous. "If a party institutes a civil action in violation of NRS 38.310(1), the district court *must dismiss* it pursuant to NRS 38.310(2)." *Hamm*, 124 Nev. at 295, 183 P.3d at 900 (emphasis added). The Nevada legislature has even enacted a statute explaining what it means when it uses the word "shall." NRS 0.024 ("Shall' imposes a duty to act.").

Plaintiffs' argument that the court should not have dismissed their complaint after years of litigation "is meritless because NRS 38.310(2)'s language *does not determine when* a court can dismiss a civil action; rather, it *mandates* the court to dismiss any civil action initiated in violation of NRS 38.310(1)." *McKnight*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 310 P.3d at 558 (emphases added).

Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have recognized that the word "shall" "is mandatory and does not denote judicial discretion." Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of State of Nev. ex rel. Cnty. of Washoe, 122 Nev. 1298, 1303, 148 P.3d 790, 793 (2006) (holding that the "Legislature's choice of the words 'shall dismiss' instead of 'subject to dismissal' indicates that the Legislature intended

that the court have no discretion with respect to dismissal"); Lexecon Inc. v. Milberg Weiss Bershad Hynes & Lerach, 523 U.S. 26, 35 (1998) (recognizing that the term "shall" is "mandatory" and "normally creates an obligation impervious to judicial discretion").

"In the absence of any indication that there might be circumstances in which" the court would *not* have to dismiss a complaint filed in violation of NRS 38.310(1), Plaintiffs' argument that the district court had discretion *not* to dismiss their claims "stands flatly at odds with" the actual "statutory instruction." *Lexecon*, 523 U.S. at 35-36 (emphasizing statute's "unconditional command").

"[T]he Legislature's use of 'shall' . . . demonstrates its intent to prohibit judicial discretion and, consequently, mandates automatic dismissal if' the civil action is commenced in violation of NRS 38.310(1). Otak Nevada, LLC v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State, ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 127 Nev. 593, 598, 260 P.3d 408, 411 (2011) (construing nearly identical mandatory dismissal provision regarding nonresidential construction defect claims served without an attorney affidavit and expert report); see also Liberty Mut. v. Thomasson, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 4, 317 P.3d 831, 834-35 (2014) ("[T]he word 'must' . . . imposes a mandatory

requirement") (holding that provision of Nevada's Administrative Procedure Act (APA) requiring aggrieved party to file petition for judicial review in county of residence was "mandatory and jurisdictional" and "failure to strictly comply . . . requires dismissal").

The United States Supreme Court recently considered a similar issue under the False Claims Act. While the Court decided that a party's violation of a sealing requirement in a False Claims Act case did not mandate dismissal, it did so because the "statute says nothing . . . about the remedy for a violation of that rule." *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. U.S ex rel. Rigsby*, 137 S. Ct. 436, 442 (2016). It contrasted the sealing requirement with "provisions that do require, in express terms, the dismissal of a[n] . . . action." *Id*.

Here, NRS 38.310(2) is just such a provision that requires, in express terms, the dismissal of an action. Unlike *Rigsby*, the Nevada Legislature took care to specify the remedy for a violation of NRS 38.310(1); it said in unambiguous terms that dismissal is required. *Cf. Rigsby*, 137 S. Ct. at 443 ("It is proper to infer that, had Congress intended to require dismissal for a violation of the seal requirement, it would have said so.").

"Because the phrase 'shall dismiss' is clear and unambiguous, we must give effect to that meaning and will not consider outside sources beyond that statute." *Otak*, 127 Nev. at 598, 260 P.3d at 411 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

# B. Both State and Federal Decisions Interpreting NRS 38.310 Indicate That Dismissal Is Mandatory

This Court has previously indicated that dismissal is mandatory under NRS 38.310. See McKnight, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 310 P.3d at 558 ("NRS 38.310(2)'s language does not determine when a court can dismiss a civil action; rather, it mandates the court to dismiss any civil action initiated in violation of NRS 38.310(1)."); Hamm, 124 Nev. at 295, 183 P.3d at 900 ("If a party institutes a civil action in violation of NRS 38.310(1), the district court must dismiss it pursuant to NRS 38.310(2)."); Moffatt v. Giglio, No. 08A574317, 2009 WL 10655826, at \*1 (Nev. Dist. Ct. Nov. 6, 2009) (recounting how this Court granted writ petition and instructed the district court to dismiss claims under NRS 38.310 based on "Plaintiffs' failure to comply with this statutory requirement").

A plethora of federal decisions from the District of Nevada are in

accord.14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Bank of N.Y. v. Highland Ranch Homeowners Ass'n, No. 316CV00436RCJWGC, 2016 WL 7116010, at \*4 (D. Nev. Dec. 6, 2016); U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Woodland Vill., No. 316CV00501RCJWGC, 2016 WL 7116016, at \*4 (D. Nev. Dec. 6, 2016) ("Plaintiff has not exhausted its administrative remedies and must mediate its wrongful foreclosure claim prior to initiating an action in court."); Bank of Am., N.A. v. Ann Losee Homeowners Ass'n, No. 216CV407JCMCWH, 2016 WL 6122933, at \*6 (D. Nev. Oct. 18, 2016); Bank of N.Y. Mellon v. Castle Bay Shore Vill. of Los Prados Homeowners Ass'n, No. 216CV416JCMGWF, 2016 WL 5867417, at \*4 (D. Nev. Oct. 6, 2016); Carrington Mortg. Servs., LLC v. Saticoy Bay, LLC, No. 215CV01852APGPAL, 2016 WL 4051268, at \*2 (D. Nev. July 25, 2016) (holding that "claims for bad faith, wrongful foreclosure, and unjust enrichment must be dismissed because they were not first submitted to mediation as required under § 38.310"); The Bank of N.Y. Mellon fka The Bank of N.Y. v. Cape Jasmine CT Trust, No. 2:16-CV-0248-JAD-GWF, 2016 WL 3511253, at \*3 (D. Nev. June 27, 2016) (dismissing bad faith and wrongful foreclosure claims, noting, "McKnight demonstrates that the Nevada Supreme Court broadly interprets NRS 38.310 to require pre-litigation dispute resolution of claims relating to the interpretation, application, or enforcement of laws governing residential property, not just claims relating to the HOA's CC&Rs and governing documents"); HSBC Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Stratford Homeowners Ass'n, No. 215CV01259JADPAL, 2016 WL 1555716, at \*2-3 (D. Nev. Apr. 14, 2016); Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Sundance Homeowners Ass'n, Inc., No. 215CV01310APGGWF, 2016 WL 1259391, at \*4 (D. Nev. Mar. 30, 2016) (dismissing bad faith and wrongful foreclosure claims under NRS 38.310, as "the court must dismiss 'any civil action' that is commenced without prior resort to ADR"); Bank of Am., N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, No. 2:15-CV-0693-GMN-VCF, 2016 WL 389981, at \*2 (D. Nev. Jan. 31, 2016) (dismissing "claims for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, wrongful foreclosure, breach of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 116.1113, and negligent misrepresentation" under

## C. Terminology Is Unimportant— Plaintiffs' Claims Must Be Dismissed

Plaintiffs spend a great deal of time arguing that NRS 38.310 is not jurisdictional (AOB at 36-48), but whether it is or not is unimportant. The statutory requirements of NRS 38.310 are mandatory and

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